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November 8, 2022 
Monique Owens 
22480 Petersburg Avenue 
Eastpointe, MI 48021 
 
Re:  Schonert v. Owens 
 Campaign Finance Complaints No. 2022 – 06 – 25 – 226  
  2022 – 10 – 137 – 226  
   2022 – 11 – 185 – 244  
 
Dear Ms. Owens:  
 
The Department of State has received formal complaints filed against you by Matthew Schonert 
submitted June 17, 2022, June 28, 2022, October 11, 2022, and November 2, 2022, alleging 
violations of Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or Act), 1976 P.A. 388, MCL 169.201 et 
seq.   
 
In the most recent complaint, dated November 2, 2022, Mr. Schonert alleges that you 
impermissibly used campaign funds for clothing and dry-cleaning services—services which he 
alleges were personal and not in furtherance of your campaign.  
 
Section 44 of the MCFA provides that, generally, a candidate committee may not make an 
expenditure or other disbursement except to further the nomination or election of the candidate 
for which it is formed. MCL 169.244.  
 
The purpose of this letter is to inform you of the Department’s examination of these matters and 
your right to respond to the allegations before the Department proceeds further. It is important to 
understand that the Department is neither making this complaint nor accepting the allegations as 
true. The investigation and resolution of this complaint is governed by section 15 of the Act and 
the corresponding administrative rules, R 169.51 et seq. An explanation of the process is 
included in the enclosed guidebook.  
 
If you wish to file a written response to this complaint, you are required to do so within 15 
business days of the date of this letter. Your response may include any written statement or 
additional documentary evidence you wish to submit. Materials may be emailed to 
BOERegulatory@michigan.gov or mailed to the Department of State, Bureau of Elections, 
Richard H. Austin Building, 1st Floor, 430 West Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918. If 
you fail to submit a response, the Department will render a decision based on the evidence 
furnished by the complainant.  
 
A copy of your answer will be provided to Mr. Schonert, who will have an opportunity to submit 
a rebuttal statement to the Department. After reviewing the statements and materials provided by 
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the parties, the Department will determine whether “there may be reason to believe that a 
violation of [the MCFA] has occurred [.]” MCL 169.215(10). Note that the Department’s 
enforcement powers include the possibility of entering a conciliation agreement, conducting an 
administrative hearing, or referring this matter to the Attorney General for enforcement. 
 
In its most recent letter dated October 26, 2022, the Department notified Mr. Schonert and you 
that it had opened an investigation into the allegations of his October 11, 2022 complaint. For the 
sake of administrative efficiency, the Department has combined the four complaints and will 
process them according to the timeline of this November 2, 2022 complaint, allowing you the 
opportunity to respond, Mr. Schonert to rebut your response, and the Department to make a 
determination. See, e.g., Michigan Waste Systems, Inc v Dep’t of Natural Resources, 157 Mich 
App 746, 756 (1987) (“The purpose of consolidation is to promote the convenient administration 
of justice and to avoid needless duplication of time, effort, and expense.”) (Internal quotations 
omitted.) 
 
If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact the Regulatory Section of the 
Bureau of Elections at BOERegulatory @michigan.gov.  
 
       Sincerely, 
 

Regulatory Section 
Bureau of Elections 
Michigan Department of State 
 

Enclosure 
c: Matthew Schonert 
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From: monique owens <mayormoniqueowens@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, November 14, 2022 10:53 AM
To: MDOS-BOERegulatory
Subject: Schonert v. Owens

CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov 

Good morning, 

I am writing in regards to the allegations sent by Matthew Schonert.  When I ran for Senator ,I had no understanding on 
how the finance reporting was handled.  When I found out it was on MERTS I was not educated to make the following 
requirements that were asked of me and contacted your office by email and over the phone(please check email for 
several attempts for assistance).  Also at the time I didn't know anyone that could help me and did the very best I could. 
I have always done my  campaign reporting as a mayor. Most elected officials do not do their own campaign finance 
reporting if it is over $1,000, I was told.  I have been doing my very best for almost 5 years as an elected official to do my 
very best even though I have had some hiccups.  When I received notice of my discrepancies I was blessed to get 
assistance from a professional who does the campaign reporting for elected officials for over 20 years.  Please check my 
amendment for corrected updates on my campaign report and I will work towards completing anything I have to do to 
make sure I am following protocol. 

Respectfully 

Mayor Monique Owens 



 

 
MICHIGAN BUREAU OF  ELECTIONS  

RICHARD H .  AUSTIN BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR ●  430  W.  ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918  
Mi ch i gan .gov/E le ct i ons  ●  (517)  335-3234  

November 18, 2022 
Matthew R. Schonert  
22050 Boulder Avenue 
Eastpointe, MI 48021      
 
Via email  
 
Re: Schonert v. Owens 

Campaign Finance Complaints No.  2022 – 06 – 25 – 226 
 2022 – 10 – 137 – 226 
 2022 – 11 – 185 – 244 
 

Dear Mr. Schonert: 
 
The Department of State received a response from Ms. Owens to the complaint you filed against 
her alleging a violation of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act, 1976 P.A. 388, MCL 169.201 et 
seq. A copy of the response is provided as an enclosure with this letter. 
 
You may file a rebuttal statement after reviewing the enclosed response. If you elect to file a 
rebuttal statement, you are required to do so within 10 business days of the date of this letter. The 
rebuttal statement may be emailed to BOERegulatory@michigan.gov or mailed to the 
Department of State, Bureau of Elections, Richard H. Austin Building, 1st Floor, 430 West 
Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
Regulatory Section 

                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 
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MDOS-BOERegulatory

From: monique owens <mayormoniqueowens@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, December 1, 2022 5:34 PM
To: MDOS-BOERegulatory
Subject: Schonert v Owens (Response)
Attachments: victory response nov.pdf

CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov 

 

This email is in response to Mr. Schonert's complaint. Attached to this email is evidence in response to his complaints.  
 
Complaint 1.  I was a candidate and won my election as the first African American councilwoman in 2017 and the 
document attached shows that it was dissolved on November 4th 2021. The committee took a while to close because I 
did not have the funds to close it due to late fees that I acquired. 
 
Complaint 2. When I was a candidate and won my election as the first African American Mayor in Eastpointe in 2019, I 
created a statement of organization which was different from my candidate committee as a councilwoman back in 2017. 
 
Complaint 3.  In my defense as an elected official, I did not use my own hard working money for personal use to buy 
clothes for my campaign. I used my money to buy clothing for campaign events just as if I would wear a shirt with my 
name on it for similar events.  Also, the dry cleaning services were needed because most of my clothing was bought 
from second-hand stores and they needed to be cleaned to wear to my campaign events. This shows that most of my 
clothing was not purchased brand new. My attire represented me as a candidate and I wanted to look presentable for 
my constituents and that is important in any race for office.  Respectfully, reading that it is looked at as personal use. I 
will take full responsibility for the law and apologize if I have done anything wrong even though I was not aware. 
 
Complaint 4. I have attached itemized documentation in regards to the clothing and beside it shows that it was a loan 
from myself to pay me back. 
 
Complaint 5.  I have attached documentation for debts and obligations that came up to almost 5,000 that I owed 
myself.  The cost of the clothing that I paid for  with my own money that Mr. Schonert came up  with allegedly 
$500.  No matter what the cost of the clothing, I was paying myself back and it was forgiven.  Again, it shows on debts 
and obligations that even if the committee owed me money that I forgave it because most of the money that I received 
came from me. This means that if I had owed myself almost 5,0000 or $500 and the committee had to pay me back it 
was forgiven no matter what because it came from me, the candidate. 
 
Thank you for your time and if you have any further questions please contact me 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Mayor Monique Owens 
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